Unutulmus Sokaklarda Bir Yiiriiyiis: Develi Hafiza Turu, Hrant Dink Vakfi
tarafindan, Develi Ermeni toplumunun izini siirerek ilgenin gokkiiltiirlii
mirasini agiga gikarmayi hedefleyen bir arastirma sonucunda hazirland.
Harita, Ermeni Kiiltiirel Mirasiyla Develi kitabinin farkli boliimlerinden
yapilan alintilar yardimiyla, Develi kiiltiirel mirasini yiriiyerek ya da
bisikletle dolasmak igin bir rehber olma hedefi tasiyor.

1280°lerde Tiirk akinlar sirasinda, komutanlar Dev Alj, Hidir Ilyas ve
Seyh Ali Everegi biiyiik bir savasla isgal ettiler. O zamanlar Everek’in her
tarafinda Rumlar yasardi. Bunlarin tamamina yakini katledildi. Everek
yakinlarinda Rumca adi Ayios Kosmos olan kale Dev Ali’nin eline geger
ve onun adiyla anilmaya baslar. Bugiine kadar kalenin giiney tarafinda,
yaklasik on dakika uzakliktaki koye Tiirkler Aygozma [ Aygozme] der.
Eski Everek evlerinin bulundugu alana Elbiz Oreni denir. Savas bittiginde,
insanlann zanaatkdrlara ihtiyaci oldu. Ermeniler ta en basindan zanaatla
ugrastiklan igin, huzurlu bir yer bulmak amaciyla her taraftan gog etmis.
Adalarla medeni iliskiler tesis etmis, Dev Ali’ye katilip gelenlerin yanina
yerlesmeyerek, oradan yarim saat uzaklikta, asagida, su olan vadiye
yerlesmisler.

Yukanida zikredilen tarihten yaklasik 200 sene sonra, Feneseliler Konya
taraflarindan gog etmislerdir. Vadinin yukari tarafinda, Tiirk mahallesinin
bittigi noktadan itibaren, yukar dogru ilerleyerek ev yapmaya basladilar.
Tiirkler de Feneselilerin biraktigi noktadan, vadi iginden kuzey-doguya
dogru insa etmeye devam ettiler.

Bilisd’, Elbiz’in Ermeni isimlerinden biri. Elbiz Oreni’nden on
dakika giineyde yer alir. Everek’ten kuzeye otuz dakika uzaklikta,harika bir
suyu vardir. Elbiz, anlatiya gore, bu suyu getiren, depo insa edip iizerine ev
yapanin adidir. Su epeyi derinlerden gikar, kaynagi iig metre derinliktedir.
Bu suda balik veya herhangi bir siiriingen yasayamaz. Su degirmen
dondiirecek kadar boldur. Everek bu suyun kuvvetiyle gurur duyar. Ermeni,
Tiirk ve Rum iig millet beraberce hiikiimete bagvurmus, sultandan ferman
alarak su iizerinde esit haklara sahip olup, her millet bes giin su alirds.

Su igin yayimlanan fermanin uygulamasi, her yil 1 Haziran’da baglar, o
tarihe kadar suya pek ihtiyag duyulmaz. 15 Agustos’ta, Asdvadzadzin
Yortusu’nun Cumartesi aksami, Hag Dagi yandiginda Tiirkler “gira yandi”
deyince su akitilir. Artik herkes bahgesini sulayabilir. Ermeniler, on bes
giinliik paylanndan artan suyu, onlarin sulayacak daha gok bahgeleri
oldugu igin saati bir mecidiyeye tekrar Tiirklere satar, boylece olugan geliri

de okul biitgesine tahsis ederdi.

Turkish raider commanders, Dev [Giant] Ali, Hidir Ilyas, and Sheikh Ali, invaded
Everek about 1280°s as part of a larger military campaign. Greeks were living
all around Everek at that time. Nearly all of them were killed. When the castle
near Everek, called Agios Kosmos in Greek, was captured by Dev Ali, the castle
started to be called after his name. A Turkish village ten minutes in distance
to the castle, to its south were called by the Turks Aygozma [Aygozme]. The
area where old Everek is situated is called the Elbiz Mound. When the war was
over, people needed artisans. Because Armenians had always dealt with crafts,
in search of a peaceful place they immigrated from different corners. Having
established civilized relationships with the aghas, they still settled down, not
among Dev Ali’s followers, but half an hour away from them, inside the valley
near the water.

Approximately 200 years after the aforementioned date, Fenesians immigrated

from around Konia. They started building houses on the upper part of the valley,
starting from where the Turkish neighborhood ended. On the other hand, Turks

continued building inside the valley and towards north-east, without interfering
with houses of Fenese.

Armenians of Everek and Fenese, although side by side, were thus separated by
the Turkish neighborhood between them. They have a church dedicated to Surp
Toros, a school named after Rupinyan, and a respectable position at the market.

‘Bilisd’ is one of the Armenian names given to Elbiz. It is situated

ten minutes to the south of Elbiz Oreni. From Everek, it takes thirty minutes to
get to its wonderful waters. As the story goes, Elbiz is the name of the person
who brought the water, built a tank for it, and built his home over it. The

water sprouts up from quite deep underground, its source lies three meters
underground. No fish or other creature lives in this water. The water runs strong
enough to power one mill. Everek takes pride in the power of this water. The
three communities, Armenians, Turks, and Greeks, petitioned the government
and were able to get a ferman [decree] from the sultan guaranteeing them equal
rights over the water so that each community had the right to five consecutive
days of its use.

The decree concerning the water yearly takes effect from June 1 onward, until
which time water is not needed much. The water is allowed to run on August

15, on the Saturday eve of Asdvadzadzin Feast, when the fire on Mount Khach
burns and the Turks shout ‘cira yandi [kindle alight].” From then on everybody is
allowed to water their orchards. Armenians sell the spare water from their share
of fifteen days back to the Turks, who have more (melon or watermelon) orchards
to water, at a rate of one mecidiye per hour, and the gathered income is allotted
to the school budget.

It is said that when the Armenians of Everek were exiled on August 15, 1915, the
water of Bilisd dried as if by some miracle. Osman Efendi, son of belediye reisi

15 Adustos 1915°te Everek Ermenileri siirgiin edildi ve anlatiya gore, sanki
bir mucize eseri Bilisd Suyu gekildi. Belediye Reisi Pasa’nin oglu Osman
Efendi su kaynagini temizlemek isteyerek kapiyr agmus, icindeki, etrafindaki
pislikleri temizlemis, kapiyi kapatmus, fakat havuz dolmamusti. Giinlerce
bekleyip, kapiyi agtiklarinda suyun tigte birinin kaldigini gormiislerdi. Su
dort yil boyle kalmusti.

Savastan sonra sag kalan Ermeniler dort bir taraftan geldiginde, tekrar
galismaya basladilar. Birden ikinci bir mucizenin oldugunu ve Mart 1918’de
suyun onceki gibi akmaya basladigini anlatirlar. “Ermeniler gittiginde su da
gitti, Ermeniler geldiginde su da geldi” derler.

Bilisd havuzundan 6o metre uzaklikta, asagdi tarafta baska bir su daha
¢ikar. Ged [Vakif]
gelir. Ermeniler bu suyun iki tarafina kalin, biiyiik taslar dizmisti. Feneseli

adli bu su da yukandaki havuzun suyundan

ve Everekli her aile gamagin muhakkak orada yikardi. Camagir, pagalar
baldira kadar sivanip ayakla yikanirdi. Kirli kiyafetleri, yakacak odunu,
kazani sabah erkenden esege yiikler, gotiiriir, aksama kadar galisir, yer,
icer, eglenir ve aksama dogru donerlerdi. Hane erkeklerinden biri yiiklemeye
yardim eder, korkusuzca eve donerlerdi. Evden yarim saat uzakta o giizelim
gelinler, kizlar ayaklaryla gamagir yikar, fakat gelip gegen Rum ya da
Tiirkler yan gozle bakmazdi. Bagindan beri duyulmus sey degildi gelin veya
kizlardan birinin gamagir yikarken bir kétiiliige rastladigi. Aksine, birbirini
taniyan su yolculari ve bahge bekgileri gamasir yikayan kadinlann yanina
gelir, yemege davet alirlardi. Herkes sevgiyle yasardi. Fakat ne zaman
1895°te ‘devrim’ oldu, her sey degisti ve ondan sonra kimse orada ¢amasir
yikamak igin disari gikamadi.

Koghumbar [Koskpinar] Ged’den on dakika asagidadir. Buranin
bir adi da Gozpinar olmali. 200 metre uzunluga ve 30 metre genislige

sahip bir ovada giizel bir pinar. Bilisd Suyu da bahgelere dogru bu ovanin
icinden geger. Her pazar biiyiik kiigiik oraya eglenmeye gidilir, Rum ve Tiirk
komsular da gelir, muhabbetle eglenilirdi. Vartavar Yortusu’nun Pazar
giinii herkes o yoredeki bahgelere eglenmeye giderdi. Komsun orada bir
bahgeye sahip degilse, onu bahgene davet ederdin. Sehirde hemen hemen
kimse kalmazdi. Yenir, igilir, sarkilar séylenir, ceviz agacina ip baglayip
sallanilird1. Devrim’ basladiktan sonra, Ermeniler bir daha asla, yalniz veya
ailece Koghumbar Ovasi’na veya Ged’e gezmeye gitmedi.

Horminots Everek’in Rum mahallesidir. Ermeniler Horminots,
Tiirkler ise Aygosdan derler. Rumca adi Ayios Kostantianos’tur. Dev Ali’nin

kinmlarindan sonra bans tesis edildiginde, orada burada sag kalan Rumlar

[the mayor], opened the door of the tank and cleaned the mouth of the spring,
but the pool remained empty when he closed the door after having cleaned the
outlet. The Turks waited for days, only to see that the water had decreased to
one third of its original level. The water level remained like that for four years.

The Armenians who has survived the war, returned from different corners of
the country and started working again. They recount that a second miracle
happened at that time, and the water started running as it used to. The Turks
say that “the water was gone when the Armenians were gone, it came back
when Armenians returned.”

In the lower plains and at a 60-meter’s distance from Bilisd pool, another water
springs named Ged . This water too comes from the upper basin. The
Armenians lined either side of this water with large hard-wearing boulders.
Every household in Fenese and Everek did their laundry down there. Washing
was done by stomping on the clothes with bare feet, cuffs folded up to mid-calf.
They would take the laundry, firewood, and a cauldron there on a donkey early
in the morning, work, eat, drink, and laugh there until the evening, and then
return. A man from the household would help with the loading, but otherwise
they would go and come back without any fear. Stunningly beautiful brides and
girls would wash clothes with their feet half an hour away from home, and yet
none of the Greek or Turkish passers by would leer at them. It was unheard-of for
one of the girls to get harmed.

Koghumbar [Koskpinar] lies ten minutes below Ged. Another local
name for this place must be Gozpinari. This plain is 200 meters in length and
thirty meters in width and has a nice natural spring. Water coming from Bilisd
goes through this plain on its way to the orchards. Armenians of all ages would
go there every Sunday, and enjoy the meadows. Greek and Turkish neighbors
would also join in the merriment. On Sunday of the Vartavar festival everybody
would go out to the orchards in this area. Those who did not own an orchard
there, you would be invited by their neighbors who did. Nearly nobody would
remain in the town. Food and drinks would be consumed, songs would be sung,
and slings would be set up on branches of walnut trees. After the ‘revolution’
started, Armenians were never able to go out, alone or with our families, to the
Koghumbar Plain or to Ged.

Horminots is the Greek neighborhood of Everek. Armenians call it
Horminots, and Turks Aygosdan. In Greek it is called Hagios Konstantinos.

In the wake of the havoc wreaked by Dev Ali and following the peace, the
surviving Greeks scattered in different areas returned here to settle in their old
neighborhood. They lived there harmoniously together with some fifty Turkish
households. They had their own church and schools; they were hardworking and
active people. Some of them went to Istanbul or other centers to save money, and
returned after four or five years. They were not craftspeople, making their living

gelerek kendi eski mahallelerine yerlesmis. Burada Tiirklere ait elli kadar
hane ile birlikte uyum iginde yasarmuslardi. Kendi kilise ve okullari vardi,
¢aliskan, aktif insanlards. Bir kismi para kazanmak igin Istanbul veya
baska yerlere gidip, dort bes yil galistiktan sonra geri donerdi. Zanaatlar
yoktu, bahgivanlikla geginirlerdi. Gurbete gidenler de bakkalcilik yapardi.
Aralarindan bazilan zengin olmustu. Giizel evler de insa etmislerdi.

Ermenilerin Develi’den Istanbul ve diger yerlere go¢ etmeleri 1950°lerde
baslayip 1970’lere kadar siirmiistiir. 1970’lerde bolgede yalnizca bir
Ermeni kalmis, onun vefatinin ardindan Develi’de Ermeni kimligiyle
yasayan kimse kalmamistir. Develi’de son yasayan Ermeni ailenin

evi bugiin ayakta. Yalgin evi, bir kiiltiirel miras olarak,

Ermenilerden Develi’de kalan nadir yapilardan biri.

Asagieverek Mahallesi, Istiklal Caddesi 35 numarada bulunan ev,
diizgiin yontu tas duvarli, iki katli ve bitisik nizamli insa edilmis. ki
kanatli kapidan uzun avluya giriliyor. Avlunun bitimine yakin her iki
tarafta tig basamakli tag merdivenle gikilan kiigiik sahanliklar (seki
tabir edilen) ve buraya agilan iki oda bulunmaktadir. Avlu sonunda
yine iki kanatli gegis kapisi bulunmaktadir. Bu béliimde kislik odalar,
kiler, mutfak, tandir evi gibi boliimler yer aliyor. Avlunun saginda iig
merdivenli sahanliktan tag merdivenle birinci kata gikiliyor. Bu katta
sofaya agilan iig oda yer aliyor. Bas odanin yiiklugii, tavan siislemeleri,
sediri, gigekligi orijinal durumda. Sofadan balkona gikiliyor. Ev,
Develi’de balkon bulunan sayili evlerden biri. Evin biiyiik bir ustalikla
islenen ahsap siislemeleri ince bir zevkin tiriini. Siislemeler sagak
kornisi, yuikliik, gozenek, kapi ve pencere iizerindeki alinliklarla
tereklerde ajur teknikle; tavan, kapi, tirabzan, dolap kapaklari ve
yikliiklerde oyma teknigiyle islenmis. Bas oda tavanindaki gobek,
ahsapla kaplanmis. Gokbaslar adinda iki kardes, Agop ve Bogos yan
yana iki ev yaptirmisti. Arada bir kapi vardi, iki kardes kapisi. Kis giinii
gok sogukta disari gikmaz, oradan galisirlarmis. Bugiin Yalgin ailesine
ait olan ev, Agop’a ait olan evdir.

Ev, I. Diinya Savasl sirasinda hastane olarak kullanilmis. Duvarlardaki
resimleri de o sirada burada yatan ve Rum olduklari bilinen hastalar

yapmis.
Evdeki yasami, Hirantuhi Yalgin kendisiyle yapilan sozlii tarih

miilakatinda s6yle anlatiyor:

Evde su olmadigi igin su disaridan getirilirdi. Evin karsidaki biiyiik
bahgenin kapisinin, karsisinda gesme vardi. Su o gesmeden bakir
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through gardening. Those who left for work in the city ran small shops. A couple
of individuals among them became wealthy. They built nice houses, too.

The migration of Armenians from Develi to Istanbul and other places
started in the 1950s and continued until the 1970s. By the 1970s, there was
only one Armenian in Develi. After his death, there remained no Armenians
living in Develi. The house of the last living Armenian family in Develi is still
standing and belongs to the Yalgin family. It is one of the few remaining
Armenian structures in the town today, and it is thus an important cultural
heritage site with the potential to offer much to its community.

The Yalgin house
of neatly hewn stone—is located at 35 Istiklal St. in the neighborhood of
Asagieverek, Develi.

—a two-floor, semi-detached house with walls

A set of double doors opens onto a long courtyard. At the far end of the
courtyard, on each side, is an entryway reached by three stone steps and
two rooms opening to each of these clearings. At the end of the courtyard
there are again a set of double passage doors. In this section there are the
winter rooms, pantry, kitchen, and tandoor-oven room.

On the right side of the courtyard, a stone stairway extending from the
three-step entryway takes one up to the first floor. In this floor there are
three rooms opening to the anteroom. The large closet, ceiling decorations,
the sofa and flower box in the master bedroom are in their original
condition. From the anteroom one has access to the balcony. The house is
one of the few in the town to have one.

The house is tastefully decorated with masterful woodwork. Its cornices,
closets, wall niches, shelves, and the pediments above its doors and
windows are all engraved in the a jour style, while its ceilings, doors,
stairway railings, cupboards, and cupboard doors are all carved with
beautiful details. The roof centerpiece of the master bedroom is covered
with wood veneer.

Agop and Bogos, whom everyone called Gokbases, built two houses next
to one another. They were connected by a door in between, a door between
brothers. In the cold of winter, they wouldn’t leave the house; they would
work from there. The house owned by the Yalgin family is Agop’s house.
The house was used as a hospital during the World War I. The paintings on
the walls were done by the wounded who were staying here and who are
known to have been Greek.

In an oral history interview, Hirantuhi Yalgin recounts the life in the house:

We didn’t have water in the house, so I’d have to go outside to get water to
do the cleaning. There was a fountain in front of the gate of the big garden

gligiimlere doldurulur getirilirdi. Zadig zamani kirk tane perde yikanir,
ttiilenir, evin her yerine serilmis olan halilar silinir, temizlenirdi.

Elbiz Suyu, bahgeleri sulamak igin on bes giinde bir akardi, herkes
gamasirini, hali, kilim, yikanabilecek her seyi doker yikardi. Su gelince
pencerelerin gergevelerini gikarir, suyun basina gotiiriilip firga ile
temizlerdim. Her sene badana yapilirdi. Badana zamani, badanacilar
firgay1 duvarlardaki resimlere degdirmeden boyardi. Evin dami,
Anadolu’da pek gok yerde oldugu gibi toprak damdir.

Develi merkezdeki Ermeniler Everek ve Fenese olarak bilinen iki

koyde yasamiglardir. 1915 sonrasinda da Develi’de kiigiik bir Ermeni
toplulugu yasamaya devam etmistir. 1914 Osmanli niifus sayimina
gore, Develi kazasinda 30.948 Miisliiman, 2.085 Rum, 15.689 Apostolik
Ermeni, 404 Protestan ve iki Katolik Ermeni yasiyordu. Develi kazasi
merkezinde ise 9.031 Miisliiman, 666 Rum, 6.853 Apostolik ve 180
Protestan Ermeni ikamet etmekteydi. Develi’nin demografik yapisi,
Ermenilerin tehcir edilmeleri ve 1923’te Tiirkiye ile Yunanistan arasinda
yapilan niifus miibadelesi nedeniyle, 20. ylizyilin ilk geyreginde radikal
bigimde degismistir. 1923’te Turkiye ile Yunanistan arasinda imzalanan
mibadele antlasmasiyla, bélgede yasayan ve sayilari 2.000 civarinda
olan Rum niifus Yunanistan’a gonderilmistir. Miibadelenin ardindan
Develi’de yagayan Rum kalmamigtir.

Ateskesin ilanindan sonra kurulan yeni Osmanli hiikiimeti, hayatta
kalan Ermenilerin tehcir edildikleri bolgelerden geri donmelerine

izin vermistir. Bu kararin ardindan Ermeniler Develi’ye donmeye
baglamiglardir. Krikoryan’a gore, hayatta kalan Everek-Feneseli
Ermenilerin sayisi 2.000 dolaylarinda iken Develi’ye donenler 1.000 kisi
civarindaydi. Savas sonrasi geri donen Ermeniler kiliseyi ve okulu tekrar
isler hale getirmislerdir.

Savas, tehcir, niifus hareketleri ve demografik yapinin degismesi
bolgedeki kiiltiirel mirasi da etkilemistir. Everek’teki Surp Toros
Kilisesi, Cumbhuriyet doneminde, 6nce tahil ambari, sonra da
depo olarak kullanilmistir. Kilise, 1978’de camiye doniistirilmistiir ve
halen Asagieverek Fatih Cami olarak faaliyet gostermektedir. Kilisenin
camiye doniistiiriilmesi siirecinde kilisede bulunan Meryem Ana ve hag
figlirlerinin Gsti siva ile kapatilmistir. Freskler, 1998’de, cami restore
edilirken tekrar ortaya gikmistir. Fresklerin kapatilmasina karsi gikislar
olmasina ragmen Vakiflar Bolge Miidiirliigii’niin karar dogrultusunda
fresklerin tizeri tekrar sivayla kapatilmistir.
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across from us. That’s where our water came from, carried in copper jugs.
During Zadig we’d have forty curtains that would have to be washed and
ironed, and he carpets would have to be wiped down and cleaned.

Water from the Elbiz spring would flow in once every fifteen days so that we
could water the gardens. When the water was clean, everyone would grab
everything that could be washed—their laundry, carpets, rugs—and wash
it. When it did, I"d take the window sashes down out of the frames, carry
them over to the water, and wash them with a brush. We’d whitewash the
house every year.When it was time to whitewash the house, painters would
come and whitewash everything except the paintings on the walls. The roof
of the house, as in many other places in Anatolia, is made from soil.

The presence of Armenians in the Develi region dates back to the 14th
century. Armenians in central Develi used to live in two villages named
Everek and Fenese. After 1915, a small Armenian community continued

to live in Develi. According to the Ottoman census of 1914, there were
30,948 Muslims, 2,085 Greeks, 15,689 Apostolic Armenians, 404 Protestant
Armenians and two Catholic Armenians in Develi. Of these, 9,031 Muslims,
666 Greeks, 6,853 Apostolic Armenians and 180 Protestant Armenians
lived in the center of the Develi district. The demographic composition of
Develi changed radically in the first quarter of the 20th century due to the
deportation of Armenians and the Greek-Turkish population exchange

of 1923. Due to the Greek-Turkish population exchange agreement which
was signed in 1923, the Greek population of the region, which consisted

of around 2,000 individuals, was sent to Greece. After the population
exchange not a single Greek person remained in Develi.

The new Ottoman government which was established after the armistice
allowed the return of surviving Armenians from the regions to which
they had been deported. Armenians started to return to Develi after this
decision. According to Krikorian the number of surviving Everek-Fenese
Armenians was around 2,000 and the number of those who returned to
Develi was around 1,000. Armenians who returned to Develi after the war
reactivated the church and the school.

War, deportations, population movement and the subsequent
transformation of the demographic composition also affected the cultural
heritage in the region. During the Republican period, the Surp Toros
Church in Everek was used as a granary and then as a warehouse.
In 1978 the church was transformed into a mosque and is still used as a
mosque, with the name Asagieverek Fatih Mosque. While the church was
being transformed into a mosque, Virgin Mary figures and crosses on the
walls were covered with plaster. These frescos resurfaced in 1998 while the
mosque was being restored. Despite objections, they were re-covered with

1850 yillarinda Everek Okulu’nun basogretmeni Bagc Oglu’ydu.
Kendisinden sonra Agzar Aga gelmis. O donem Mulla Kirkor adinda biri
tiiremis. Bu Mulla Kirkor, Miiftii Haci Ibrahim Efendi’nin gomeziymis.
Miiftiiden giizel Tiirkge 6grenmis, cok ¢alisip rakam (matematik) okumasini
dgrenmis. Kendisi birgok kisiye Tiirkge okuma yazma 6gretmis. Haci Nisan
Ada, Haci Dede Efendi, Sinan Aga, Tavit Efendi Tiirkge okuma yazmayi
ondan ogrenmis.

1884°te Yervant ogretmen yilligi 100 altindan iig yilligina Everek’e gelip, kisa
bir siirede okulu giizel bir diizene sokar. Bu siire iginde 6grencilere epeyce sey
ogretir: Ermenice, Fransizca, matematik, dilbilgisi, giizel yazi, muhasebe ve
Tiirkge.

O donem Ermeniler Fenese’yle birlestik, biiyiik bir okul (kolej) agmak
istiyorlardi. Okulda keman dersi bile vardi. Gozogullarin K6r Ohan on iig
Ggrenciye keman dgretiyordu. Biiyiik savasin ¢iktigi 1914 yilina kadar boyle
devam etti. Sonra yollar kapandi. Para gelmemeye baslad.

O sirada Everek’te bir bomba patladi. Hiikiimet sorusturma agti. Evler,
diikkdnlar her yer araniyordu. Ermenileri siirgiin etmeye baslamislardi.
Hepsi darmadagin oldular. Ne okul, ne kilise kald.

Kilise tahil ambari yapildi, okul da askerlere tahsis edildi.

Istanbul’da okumus, Develi*nin ileri gelen ailelerinden birine gelin gelen,
Liisig Koleyan Ermeni ve Tiirk gevrelerinde saygin bir isme sahipti. 1915
siirgiiniinde Everek’te kaldi ve orada kalan Ermeni asker ailelerine gok
yardimi oldu. Orada kalanlara bir anne gibi yardim etti. Liisig Koleyan kiz
okulu igin gerekli olan tiim ¢alismalan iistlendi. Onun zamaninda okul
birgok mezun verdi. Hepsi de Digin Koleyan’dan dikis ve nakis, Ermenice
yazi, matematik ve okuma yazma 6grenmislerdi.

Mesrobyan Okulu askeriyeye tahsis edilmisti. Bir 6gretmenler
komitesi kurulmus ve egitim faaliyetlerine baglanmistir. Bu donemde
Develi’deki okulda 239 6grenci egitim gormiistiir. Son miidiirii Sarkis
Donigyan olan okul 1926°da kapatilmis ve okul binasi stiklal Mektebi
adini alarak devlet okulu olarak kullanilmistir. Bunun ardindan
Develi’de Ermeni okulu kalmamistir. Hiikiimet ayni yil Everek’teki kilise
ve mezarliga da el koymustur. Bu el koymanin sonucunda, yalnizca
Fenese’deki Surp Toros Kilisesi ve mezarlik faal olarak kalmistir.

Dev Ali’nin savastigi donemde bu vadide Rumlara ait bir manastir varmis.
Buranin suyu hep ok faydali olmus, dolayisiyla evler buraya insa edilmis.

plaster in line with the decision of the General Directorate of Foundations.

During the 1850s the headmaster of Everek’s school was Bagci Oglu [Son of
Baghji]. He was succeeded by Aghzar Agha. Around then a person by the name
of Mulla Krikor appeared out of nowhere. This Mulla Krikor was a apprentice of
Mufti Haci Ibrahim Efendi. He learned good Turkish from the mufti. At the same
time, he worked hard and learned to read the numbers. He taught many people
to read and write in Turkish. Haci Nishan Agha, Haci Dede Efendi, Sinan Agha,
and Tavit Efendi learned to read and write Turkish from him.

In 1884 teacher Yervant was dispatched to Everek for three years with a yearly
salary of 100 gold coins, and put the school in good order after a short time
following his arrival. He taught many things to students over the course of three
years: Armenian, French, mathematics, grammar, calligraphy, accounting, and
Turkish.

The school was even offering violin classes. Blind Ohan of the Gozghullar family
was teaching thirteen students how to play the violin. In the meantime, the
village of Everek was united with Fenese and the Armenians were to open a new
united school (a college). Things went on as usual until 1914 when the great war
broke out. The roads got blocked. Money stopped coming in.

It was around then that a bomba [bomb] exploded in Everek. The government
opened up an investigation. Houses, shops, everywhere was being searched. They
began deporting Armenians. They were all devastated. Not a school or a church
was left standing.

They turned the church into a barn, and the school was allocated to soldiers.

Digin Lusig Koleyan, who had studied in Istanbul and married into one of the
most prominent families in the town, was respected in Armenian and Turkish
circles. During the deportation of 1915 she stayed in Everek and helped the
families of Armenian soldiers who were staying there. She was like a mother to
those who stayed. She took on all the work necessary for the girls’ school. During
her service the school graduated many pupils. They had all studied sewing and
needlework, Armenian calligraphy, mathematics, and reading and writing with
Digin Koleyan.

The Mesrobian School was allocated to the army. A teachers
committee was established and education activities were resumed. In this
period, 239 students were educated in the school in Develi. The school,

the last principal of which was Sarkis Donigian, was closed in 1926 and the
school building used for the establishment of a public school named istiklal
School. With this development, there was no longer an Armenian school in
Develi. In the same year, the government confiscated the church and the
cemetery in Everek. After this, only the Surp Toros Church and cemetery,
which were both located in Fenese, continued to be actively used.

Manastir kalintilarini Ermeniler kilise ve adak yeri olarak
kullanmiglar. Sonradan Tiirkler oraya bir medrese inga etmek ister.
Ermenilere bir sey demeden medrese insasina karar verip, galismalara
baslarlar. Ermeniler adak yerinin elden gikacagini fark ettiklerinde mahalle
papaziyla Onbaslarin Der Sarkis’e gidip itiraz etmesini, adak yerinin tahrip
edilmemesini talep etmesini isterler. Rahmetli papaz, agaya gidecegine,
dogrudan isgilere gidip “Buraya medrese insa edemezsiniz, burasi
Huristiyanlara ait bir adak yeri” der. “Sen de kim oluyorsun kararimiza karsi
¢ikacak? Medrese binasini yasaklayacak kadar oldun mu sen?” deyip, hig
tereddiit etmeden oradaki agacin yanina gotiiriir, agagtan bir ip sarkitip,
ucunu papazin boynundan gegirirler. Ermeniler hemen agaya adam yollar.
Aga yetiserek papazin boynundan ipi gikarip onu eve yollar. Kirk giin
gegmeden papaz korkusundan 6liir. Ermeniler agaya sikdyet eder. Ada
manastir ikiye boler: Yarisi medrese igin Tiirklere, diger yarisi da Ermenilere
verilir. Pinar, Tiirk tarafinda kalir. Ermeni tarafindan gegen su artik igilmez.
Ermeniler bilyiik, dayanikli taslarla dort bir tarafi duvarla Grerek ayri, temiz
bir boliim yapar, ufak-tefek gamasiri orada yikamaya baslar.

Yillar sonra yasanan biiyiik bir sel binanin tiimiinii alip gétiiriir, sadece
gamagsir yikadiklar boliim saglam kalir.

Tura; Fenese’deki Surp Toros Kilisesi ile devam ediyoruz.

Cumbhuriyetin ilk yillarinda Fenese’de bulunan Rupinyan Okulu
kapatilmisti. Bu kdydeki Surp Toros Kilisesi ve Ermeni mezarligi ise
bu donemde aktif olarak kullanilmaya devam etti. Everek’teki kilise
ve mezarligin el degistirmesinden sonra, Everek’te yasayanlar, ibadet
icin Fenese’deki kiliseye gitmek ve cenazelerini de buradaki mezarliga
defnetmek durumunda kalmislardir.

Fenese Surp Toros Kilisesi, 1928’de gegici olarak kapatilsa da sekiz

ay sonra tekrar faaliyete gegmistir. Develili Ermeniler ve Develi’de
yasayanlar hala kiliseyi ve ibadet dénemlerini hatirlar. 1932°de kilisenin
rahibi Incesu Koyii’nden Yegise Takvoryan’di. Bir Develili onu 1915°’te
Hag Dagi’nda, bir kabristana saklamis. Bir haftadan sonra ortalik
diizeldiginde tekrar papaz olarak, bu kilisede gorevine devam etmis.

1960’a kadar ibadete agik olan kilise, bu yilin Nisan ayinda yikilmistir.

Develili olan rahip Haygazyan Garabedyan, Paskalya’da yapilacak 6zel
bir ayin igin Istanbul’dan Develi’ye gitmistir. 25 Ermeni ailenin yasadig
Develi’de 24 Nisan 1960°’da ayin yapilmistir. Aleksan Krikoryan bu ayini

takip eden yikilma hadisesini soyle anlatir:
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There was a Greek monastery in this valley at the time when Dev Ali was an

active warrior. Its springs had healing powers, so houses were built in this area.

The ruins of the monastery were used by the Armenians as a
church and as an altar. After a while the Turks want to build a medrese
[madrasa] there. They decide to construct the madrasa and set to work
without consulting the Armenians. When the Armenians realize that their
altar is at stake, they go to the neighborhood friar, Der Sarkis of the Onbas
family, and ask him to object on their behalf and to demand that the altar
not be destroyed. The friar, bless his soul, instead of going up to the agha,
goes directly to the workers and tells them “This is an altar of the Christians,
you cannot built a medrese here.” They reply by saying “Who do you think
you are to defy our will? Do you think yourself powerful enough to ban the
building of a madrasa?” and they do not think twice before taking him
next to a tree, suspending a rope from the tree, and tying the rope around
his neck. Armenians send a messenger to the agha at once. Agha rushes in
time to untie the rope and sent the friar home. The friar dies of fear in less
than forty days. Armenians report this to the agha. The agha divides the
monastery into two: one half is given to the Turks for the madrasa, and the
other half to the Armenians. The spring happens to remain on the Turkish
side. The water that then passes from the Armenians side is no longer
drinkable. Armenians build a separate clean basin with four walls from
large hard-wearing boulders and start to wash small things and laundry
there.

A big flood that occurred years later took away the entire basin, leaving only
the section for washing clothes.

We continue with the Fenese Surp Toros Church to our tour.

By the first years of the Republican period, the Rupinian School in Fenese
had already been closed. The Surp Toros Church and the Armenian
cemetery in this village continued to be used in this period. After the
transfer of the ownership of the church and cemetery in Everek to third
parties, Armenians living in Everek had to come to the church in Fenese

for religious ceremonies and had to use the Fenese cemetery for burials.
Although it was temporarily closed in 1928, Fenese Surp Toros Church
resumed service eight months later. Develi Armenians and local residents
of Develi still remember the church and the period in which it was active. In
1932, the priest of the church was Yeghisheh Takvorian, a native of incesu
village. A Develi resident hid him in a sepulcher at Mount Khach in 1915.
After a week, once the unrest ceased, he resumed his position in the church
as a priest.

Bu ayinden iki giin sonra, Sali giinii, Nisan’in 26’sinda, Everek-
Fenese’ye sel gibi yagmur yagdi. Yagmur, Surp Toros Kilisesi’ni
tamamen yerle bir etti. Ana mihrabin tizerindeki kubbe [yagmura]
dayanamadi ve ¢oktii. Bu badire iki giin evvel, ayin sirasinda, olsaydi;
Everek-Fenese Ermenileri gok biiyiik bir can kaybina ugrarlardi. Bundan
dolayi, bir sonraki Pazar [giinii], Mayis’in ’inde, rahip Haygazyan,

kilisenin yikintilar arasinda bir siikran ayini yapti.

Catisi goken kilisenin enkazi yikimcilara verilmis ve bu siiregte kilisenin
bulundugu alanda defineciler tarafindan kazilar yapilmistir. Bu kilisenin
kalintilan giiniimiizde hala goriilebilmektedir.

Develili Ermeniler agirlikla zanaatkarlardi ve boyle geginirlerdi. Yapilan
isler arasinda 6ne ¢ikanlar dericilik, ayakkabicilik, demircilik, terzilik,
camcilik ve boyaciliktir. Develi’de yasayanlar Ermeni ustalarin halen
hatirlandigini anlatir. Ermenilerin yaninda giraklik yapanlarin bir kismi,
gliniimiizde de o isleri devam ettirir. Develi’de iki garsi var. Bunlardan
biri Kesisin Havuzu’na giden cadde iizerindeki Uzun Garsi

Burada marangoz ve demirci atélyeleri bulunurdu ve gogu Ermenilere
aitti.

Develi’deki ikinci garsi ise Melek Girmez Carsisr’dir .Bu
carsida daha gok ayakkabici ditkkanlar vardi. Bir goriismecinin
anlatimiyla: “Melek Girmez Carsisi’nda iig tane sokak vardi, dikey
dikey. Oradakiler ayakkabiciydi hepsi, Ermeni ayakkabici ustalari. Hep
ustalardi. Develi’deki ustalarin yiizde 80’i, 90’1 -benim zamanimdan
daha evvelki zamani- Ermeniydi. Demirci ustasi, ayakkabici, marangoz
vardr.”

Fenese Mezarlig: kiliseden yarim saat uzakliktadir. Sehir
taslik bir arazi lizerinde oldugundan Ermeniler yakin bir yere mezarlik
insa edememis, defin islemlerinde sikinti gekmislerdi. Bahgeler, sadece
sehrin ucunda, gesmenin [Kesisin Havuzu] arkasinda, sogitlerin dikili
oldugu, pazarlar halkin vakit gegirdigi kiigiik bir yerdeydi. Herzarli

Krikor Baba da sazi eline alir, dini sarkilarla halki eglendirirdi.

Fenese’deki mezarlik savas sonrasinda da kullanilmaya devam
edilmistir. Kesisin Havuzu’na epey yakin olan bu mezarligin
bulundugu alan bugiin bostur. Anilarda Surp Krikor Suyu olarak
bilinen bu su, genisletilerek Develililer tarafindan yiizme havuzu
olarak kullanilmaya baslanmistir. Mezarliga ise son defin islemi 1964

yilinda yapilmistir. 1960’larin sonlarinda ise mezarliktaki kemikler

toplanarak Istanbul’daki Sisli Ermeni Mezarligrna gétiiriilmiis ve

The church was active until it collapsed in April of 1960. The priest
Haigazoon Garabedian, who was himself a native of Develi, went to Develi
from Istanbul for a special Easter ceremony. This ceremony was conducted
on April 24, 1960. At that time, there were 25 Armenian families living in
Develi. Krikorian narrates the collapse of the church, which took place
shortly after this ceremony:

Two days after this Liturgy, on Tuesday, April 26th, torrential rains fell
in Evereg-Fenesse, totally destroying the Surp Toros Church. The dome
over the main altar gave way and leaned inward, causing the local
populace much fear and grief. If this calamity had occurred just two
days earlier during the Liturgy, theEvereg-Fenesse Armenians would
have had a great human carnage. Thus, on the following Sunday, May
1st, Fr. Haigazoon celebrated a service of thanksgiving amongst the
ruins of the Church.

Ruins of the church whose dome was destroyed was handed to demolition
experts and treasure hunters have conducted excavations on the church
grounds during this period. Ruins of the church are still visible today.

Most Develi Armenians were artisans, and artisanship was their main
source of income. The most significant crafts were leatherworking,
shoemaking, ironworking, tailoring, glassmaking and dyeing. Today’s
Develi residents tell that Armenian masters are still remembered.
Apprentices who learned crafts from Armenian masters continue to be
involved in these crafts. There are two markets in Develi. One of them, the
Uzun market, is located on the street that leads to the Kesisin
Havuzu. There were carpentry and blacksmith workshops in this bazaar and
most of them belonged to Armenians.

The other bazaar is the Melek Girmez Bazaar . In this bazaar,
there were mostly shoemakers shops. Develi residents of today explain that
save for a butcher shop an a bakery the market was full of shomakes and
had made a very good name for themselves.

Fenese Cemetery is half an hour away from the church.
Because the city was built on stony terrain, the cemetery had to be built

at a distance [from the town], which posed difficulties for burials. The

only gardens were at the edge of the town behind the fountain [Kesisin
Havuzu], in a small plot of land full of willows, where people would spend
time on Sundays. Krikor Baba of Herzar would also play spiritual songs and
entertain the people.

The cemetery in Fenese continued to be used in the postwar era. The
site of this cemetery, which is near to the Kesisin Havuzu is
empty today. This fountain, known as Surp Krikor in the memoirs, has
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Sisli Ermeni Mezarlig’nda Everek-Feneseliler adina bir anit mezarlik
olusturulmustur.

ilibe, Everek’ten vadinin diger tarafina dogru on dakika uzaklikta, Hag
Dagr’na gikis yolu iizerindedir. Orada Surp Asdvadzadzin adinda
bir kaya kilisesi vardir. 150 sene once Hacin’dan gelen yaklasik 100 hane
gogmen oraya yerlesmis. Kalaycilikla geginir; yazlari galismaya koylere
gidip, kislan dinlenirlerdi. Caliskan, hareketli insanlardi. Hacin agziyla
konugsurlard,.

Everek ve Fenese’de toplanan parayla vadiden buraya su getirilmistir.

Sivas Ruhani Onderi, Everekli Kalfalarin Garabed Sirpazan, Everek’e
geldiginde kiliseyi kazdirdi, derinlestirip ortasina bir de kubbe yapti.
Avlunun dort bir yanina duvar ordiiriip, okul igin iki iig oda insa ettirdi,
fakat Everek yakin oldugundan gocuklar Everek okulunu tercih ederdi.

Her Carsamba Everek ve Fenese’den Surp Asdvadzadzin Kilisesi’ne adak
ziyaretine gidilirdi.

ilk ruhani gorevli papaz Der Harutyun, sonuncusu da papaz Der Apel
Kalfayan’d.

Evereklilerin bir gelenegi vardi: Agustos’ta, Asdvadzadzin (Meryem Ana)
Yortusu’nun Cumartesi aksami, Everek’in dogusunda, Fenese’nin giineyinde
bulunan ve Hag Dagi olarak adlandinlan kiigiik bir daga tirmanir, orada
ates yakilirdi. Everekliler bir yanda, Feneseliler diger tarafta. Herkes o atesi
gormek igin dama gikardi. Halk dam iizerinde, uzun sopalarla mesaleler
hazirlar, kiigiik gocuklar “Hag agaci yaniyor” diye bagirirdi. Tiirkler de bu
senlige eslik eder, o giinii kendilerine 6zel kilar, “Cira yandi” derlerdi.

Yaptigimiz goriismelerde, bu gelenegin Cumhuriyet doneminde

de devam ettirildigini 6grendik. Develi’deki goriismecilerden biri
hatirladiklarini soyle aktardi: “Bu Hag Dagr’'nda ates
yakarlard. O ates niye yanardi? Uziimiin alacasi oldugu zaman
yanardi gece. Oraya toplanirlar, dua ederler, lastik tekeri gotiiriirler
onu yakarlardi.” Bu yarisa birkag defa katilan bir bagka goriismeci,

bu yarisin Everek ve Feneseli Ermeniler arasinda yapildigini ve yarigin
amacinin dagin tepesine diger gruptan énce varmak oldugunu belirtti.

Cumbhuriyet déneminde Develi’de yasayan Ermeniler dini bayramlari da
kutlarlardi. Bir gériismeci bu konuda sunlari anlatti:

Bayramlar, Dzinuntlar [Noel], Zadikler [Paskalya], o zaman [da] yapilirdi.

been expanded and is being used as a swimming pool in Develi today. The
last burial in this cemetery was conducted in 1964. In the late-1960s, the
human remains in this cemetery were collected and transferred to the
Sisli Armenian Cemetery and a memorial was built for the Everek-Fenese
Armenians also in the Sisli Armenian Cemetery.

ilibe is on the road leading up Mount Khach, at a ten minutes’ distance from
Everek towards the opposite side of the valley. There is a cave church by the
name of Surp Asdvadzadzin there. About a hundred household

of immigrants from Hajin settled there 150 years ago. They make their living
through tinning; they visit villages in the summer to work and they rest during
the winter. They are hardworking and active people. They speak the Hajin
dialect.

Water was brought here across the valley by using the funds that had been
collected in Everek and Fenese.

During his visit to Everek, the religious leader of Sivas, Reverend Garabed of the
Kalfa family got the church’s floor dug deeper into the ground and built a dome
atop its center. He ordered the construction of a precinct wall and also of a couple
of rooms to serve as a school, but because of the shorter distance to Everek, children
preferred to go to the school in Everek.

Every Wednesday people from Everek and Fenese would go to Surp
Asdvadzadzin for devotional visitation.

The people of Everek used to have a tradition: In August, on the Saturday eve
before the day of the Asdvadzadzin Feast [ Annunciation of Holy Virgin], they
would climb that small mountain east of Everek and to the south of Fenese,
called Mount Khach [Cross] , and they would build a fire while up
there. People from Everek would be on one side, and those from Fenese on the
other. Everyone down in the villages would go up on their roofs to watch that
fire. Villagers would prepare torches from long rods, and small children would
shout: “the wooden cross is on fire!” Turks would accompany them, adopt the
holiday, and call it “kindle alight.”

Through the interviews, we learnt that this tradition was continued in the
Republican period. One of our interviewees in Develi narrated his memories
of this: “They used to light a fire on the Khach Mountain. Why did they light
afire? That fire was lit at night when the color of the grapes changed. They
gathered there, prayed, took some rubber tires there and set them on fire.”
Another interviewee who participated in this race a couple of times told us
that this race was between the Armenians of Everek and the Armenians

of Fenese and the aim of the race was to reach to the top of the mountain
before the other group.

Orada da yapardik. Kilise vardi, kilisenin bahgesinde toplanirdik bizim

gibi gocuklar 8-10 yaginda. Benim en ok hosuma gideni de oydu zaten. Tyi
kotii bir seyler alirlardi; ayakkabi, etek, pantolon filan. Zaten ayakkabiyi
babam yapardi. Amcamin gocuklariyla 3-4 kisiydik. Biz biraz da kilisenin
bahgesinde caka satardik. Hosuma giderdi yani. Orada, 10 -15 tane vardiysa,
Haylardan [Ermeniler] herkes orada olurdu.

Ermenilerin Develi’den Istanbul ve diger yerlere géc etmeleri 1950’lerde
baslayip 1970’lere kadar siirmiistiir. 1970’lerde bolgede yalnizca bir
Ermeni kalmis, onun vefatinin ardindan Develi’de Ermeni kimligiyle
yagsayan kimse kalmamistir. Bu doneme sahit olan bir gériismeci bu
durumu soyle anlatti:

Ben lisedeyken, ortaokuldayken de yavas yavas tasiniyorlardi. Hepsi

birden bir giinde gitmedikleri igin... Birer ikiser gidiyorlardi. Cok da farkina
varmiyorduk. Bir giin bir baktik ki bir tane David kalmus. Pastirma yapmayi
ben ondan ogrenmistim. Burada oteli vard. Bir de Vartkes vardi. Camciydi.
Universiteyi bitirip geldigim yillarda sadece bunlar kalmusti. Geri kalanlar,
1968 bu bahsettigim, bunlar harici hep tasinmisti.

Yaptigimiz gériismeler ve aragtirmalar sonucunda Ermenilerin
Develi’den gog etmelerinin pek gok sebebinin oldugunu tespit

ettik. Biitiin Anadolu’ya ve Anadolu’da yagsayan Ermeni niifusun
gogline baktigimizda Develi’nin istisna olmadigini gérmek

miimkiin. Ermenilerin Develi’den gég etmeleri ile Anadolu’nun farkli
bolgelerinden yapilan Ermeni gogleri arasinda donemsel bir gakisma
goze garpiyor. 1950°lerde hiz kazanan bu gogler kiltiirel mirasin yok
olmasiyla paralelilerlemistir.

Armenians in Develi in the Republican period also celebrated religious
festivals. On this topic, one of the interviewees told us the following:

The religious festivals, like Dznunt and Zadik were celebrated. We celebrated
them there too. There was a church. We, the children around the ages of 8 or 10,
used to gather in the churchyard. That was what I liked the most. They used to
buy us some clothing; shoes, shirts, pants, etc. My father used to make the shoes
anyway. We were three or four kids, including the children of my uncle. We used
to show off a bit in the churchyard. I liked that. All Armenians, 10 or 15 children I
suppose, used to gather there.

The migration of Armenians from Develi to Istanbul and other places started
in the 1950s and continued until the 1970s. By the 1970s, there was only one
Armenian in Develi. After his death, there remained no Armenians living in
Develi. An interviewee who witnessed this period narrated it as follows:

When Iwas in high school, [or in] elementary school, they were slowly moving
out. As they did not leave at once as a community... They left one by one.

We did not notice it much. One day we became aware that only one of them,
David, remained. He was the one who taught me how to make pastirma.

He had a hotel here. There was also Vartkes. He was a glassmaker. When I
finished college and returned here, they were the only ones to remain. The
rest, this was in 1968, the rest of them had all moved out.

As aresult of the interviews and research we conducted, we determined
that the migration from Develi had several causes. When we take the whole
of Anatolia and the migration of Armenians who lived in Anatolia into
consideration, we can say that Develi was not an exceptional case. There is
a periodical overlap between the migration of Armenians from Develi and
migration of Armenians from other parts of Anatolia. These migrations,
which escalated in the 1950s, went hand in hand with the destruction of
cultural heritage.
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